UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

LHB INSURANCE BROKERAGE INC..
on behalf of itsell and all others similarly

situated.
Civil Action No.
Plaintiff,
V. CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
FOR VIOLATIONS OF
CITIGROUP., INC. and CI'TIGROUP FEDERAL SECURITIES LLAWS

GLOBAL MARKETS, INC..

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Nefendants,

Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly sitnated, by its
undersigned attorneys, alleges the following upon personal knowledge as to itself and its
own acts and upon information and beliel as to all other matters based upon the
investigation made by and through its attorneys, which investigation inchided, among
other things, a review of the public documents and news releascs concerning the
Defendants, including their press releases and public filings with the 1.S. Securities and
lixchange Commission (the “SEC™).

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Plaintifl” brings this action as a class action on behalf of itself and all
others who purchascd and/or repurchased auction rate securitics (“ARS”)(delined below)
from the Defendants [rom March 26. 2003 through I'ebruary 13. 2008 (the “Class™ and
“Class Period™. to recover damages caused as a result of Defendants’ violation of the
[ederal securities laws.

2. ARS arc municipal bonds, corporate bonds, and preferred stocks with
intcrest rates or dividend vields that are periodically re-set through auctions, typically
every 7, 14, 28, or 35 days. ARS are issued with long-term maturitics or even in

perpetuity. In the case ol Auction Rate Preferred Sceuritics typically issued by closed-



end funds in order to provide the [unds™ teverage, there is no maturity date and some are
paying interest rates of just above 3.00%. Howecver, due to ARS’s intercst rate or
dividend yield re-setl [eature, ARS have been marketed as short-term instruments. ARS,
howcver. bear no resemblance to any cash management vehicles and, in fact, federal
regulations prohibit money market funds (rom investing in ARS.

3. Delendants deceptively marketed ARS as cash alternatives to moncy
market funds for investors needing liquidity and utterly failed to disclose material
information about the ARS they were marketing. Indeed, in monthly account statements
periodically sent to investors, Defendants listed ARS under the heading of “Money
market and auction instruments,”

4. Delendants uniformly failed to disclose that ARS are not cash alternatives
to money market funds but are instcad complicated financial products based on bonds
having maturities of 30 years and longer. Defendants also failed to disclose that ARS
were only “liquid™ because they and other broker-dealers created an artificial market for
ARS which would dry up as soon as these broker-dealers decided to remove themselves
from the auction process. Defendants also [ailed (o disclose that during the Class Period
they purchasced ARS for their own accounts o avert auction failures, and that. but for its
intervention a great deal of these auctions would have failed.

5. Instcad of disclosing the truc nature of ARS and the substantial liquidity
risks associated with them, Defendants continued to push as many ARS as possible unto
its customers tn order to unload the inventory oft its alrcady troubled balance sheet.

0. After unloading millions of dollars worth of ARS by means of a rigged
auction market, on or about February 13, 2008, Defendants and other broker-dealers
simply stopped participating in ARS auctions and walked away entirely.  As a result,
thousands of investors who thought they were holding highly liquid imvestments
purchased from the Delendants are now saddled with long term sccuritics they cannot

sell.
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7. Investors have no prospect of ever selling their sceurities through the
auction market which has now been exposed as manipulated and artiticial.  The only
chance [or investors to sell their ARS and to achicve liquidity is to take a “haircut” and
scll their securities at a substantial discount to par value.

8. Thus, Plaintiff’ and the other Class members have been harmed as a result
of Delendants” deceptive conduct and mistepresentations  because the ARS  they
purchased from the Defendants are no longer liquid and are also now worth less due to
their tliquidity.

9. This lawsuit sceks injunctive reliel o compel the Defendants to rescind
millions of dollars in ARS transactions they exccuted during the Class Period and to
recover compensatory and punitive damages on behalf of the Class who have suflered
and continue to sufler damages as a result of being stuck with these illiguid securitics.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

10, The claims alleged herein arise under Sections 10¢(b} and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “lixchange Act™), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 78t. and
Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 promulgated thercunder.

11.  The jurisdiction of this Court is based on Section 27 of the Exchange Act,
15 U.S.C. § 78aa and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337,

12. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Scction 27 of the Exchange
Act and 28 UL.S.C. § 1391(b). Many ol the acts alleged herein, including the
dissemination to the mvesting public of the misleading statements and omissions at issue,
oceurred in substantial part in this District.  Moreover, Defendants maintain their
principal U.S, exceuntive offices in this District.

13. In connection with the acts, transactions and conduct alleged herein.
Detendants used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce. including the
United States mails. interstate telephone communications and the tacilitics of national

securities exchanges and markets.
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PARTIES

14. Plaintift purchased ARS from the Defendants during the Class Period as
set forth in the attached certification.,

15. Defendant Citigroup, Inc. is a Delaware corporation and its principal place
of business is located at 399 Park Avenue. New York, New York 10043, Citigroup, Ine.
together with its subsidiarics, provides o range ol financial products and services to
consumer and corporate customers in the United States and internationally,

16.  Citigroup Global Markets. Inc. (“Global™) is a division of Citigroup, Inc.
and is a broker-dealer registered with the Securities Exchange Commission pursuant to
Section 153(b) of the Exchange Act. Global is the successor by merger to [.egg Mason
Wood Walker Inc. ("LMWW7), a broker-dealer acquired by Citigroup, Inc. on or about
December 1, 2005, Within Global is a division called Smith Barney which provides (o itg
customers brokerage. investment banking and asset management scrvices.

17. Unless specifically noted. “Citigroup™ refers collectively to Defendants
Citigroup and Global.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

18. Plaimtifl” brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)3) on behalf of a Class consisting of all persons who
acquircd ARS from Citigroup Trom March 26. 2003 through February 13, 2008, and who
were damaged thereby.  Excluded from the Class are the Defendants, their officers and
dircetors, attfiliates, legal representatives. heirs, predecessors, successors and assigns, and
any other entity in which the Detendants have a controlling interest or ol which they are a
parent or subsidiary.

19. The members of the Class are located in peographically diverse arcas and
arc so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.  Throughout the Class

Period, there were more than $300 billion ARS outstanding, which were actively traded



by Citigroup. Whale the exact number ol Class members is unknown at this time and can
only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes there are thousands
of members of the Class who acquired ARS from Citigroup during the Class Period.

20). Common questions of law and tact exist as to all members of the Class
and predominate over any questions affecting solely individual members of the Class.
Among the questions of law and tact common to the Class are:

. Whether Citigroup violated the lederal sccuritics laws based upon the facts
alleged herein;

. Whether Citigroup acted knowingly or recklessly in making materially
mislcading statements and/or omissions during the Class Period;

. Whether the market prices and liquidity of ARS marketed by Citigroup
during the Class Period were artificially inflated because of the conduct
complained of herein: and

. Whether the members ol the Class have sustained damages and. if so, the
proper measure of damages,

21. Plaintift’s claims arc typical of the claims of the members of the Class as
Plaintiff and members of the Class sustained damages arising out of Citigroup’s wrongful
conduct in violation of [ederal laws as complained ot herein,

22. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of
the Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities
litigation. Plaintilt has no interests antagonistic to or in conflict with those of the Class.

23. A class action 1s superior 1o other available methods for the fair and
efticient adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members of this Class is
impracticable. Furthermore, because the damages sulfered by individual Class members
may bec rclatively small. the expense and burden of individual litigation make it
impossible for the Class members mdividually to redress the wrongs done to them. There

will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.



SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

The ARS Market

24, ARS arc municipal bonds. corporate bonds, and preferred stocks with
interest rates or dividend yields that are periodically re-set through auctions, typically
every 7. 14, 28, or 35 days. ARS are usually issued with maturitics of 30 vears, but the
maturities can range from 5 vears 1o perpeluity.

25. ARS were first developed in 1984, and the ARS market has grown to well
over $300 billion.  In the past, mostly institutional investors participated in the ARS
markets but recently the broker-dealers reduced the minimum  investment from
$250.000.00 to $25.000.00, placing these securitics within reach of individual investors.

Aunction Mechanics

26, ARS arc avctioned at par so the return on the investment to the investor
and the cost ol financing to the issuer between auction dates is determined by the interest
rate or dividend vicld set through the auctions.'

27. According to the “disclosure documents (the prospectus or  official
statement) lor each security, the interest rate or dividend vield is supposcd to be set
through an auction (commonly relerred (o as a “Duteh™ auction) in which bids with
successively higher rates are accepted until all of the sccurities in the auction are sold.

28. Typically. investors can only submit the [ollowing types of orders: 1) a
“hold™ order, which is the delault order [or current investors (i.e.. the order that is entered
for a current holder if the holder takes no action). where a current investor will keep the
securities at the rate at which the auction clears; 2) a “hold-at-rate™ bid, where a current
investor will only keep the securities 1 the clearing rate is at or above the specified rate;
3y a sell™ order, where a current investor will sell the securities repardless of the clearing

rate: or 4) a “buy” bid, where a prospective investor, or a current investor who wants

1 . B B . .
Between auctions. investors might be able to buy or sell ARS in the secondary market at prices

areater than, equal to, or less than par.
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more securitics, will buy securities if the clearing rate is at or above the specilied rate.

29. Disclosure documents often state that an investor’'s order 1s an irrevocable
offer. The {inal rate at which all of the securitics are sold is the “clearing rate” that
applies o all of the sccurities in the auction until the next auction. Bids with the lowest
rate and then successively higher rates are accepted until all of the sell orders are filled.
The clearing rate 15 the lowest rate bid sufficient to cover all of the securitics for sale in
the anction.”

30. Il there are not enough bids to cover the sccurities lor sale, then the
auction fails, the issuer pays an above-markel rate sct by a pre-determined formula
described in the disclosure documents, and all of the current holders continue to hold the
securities, with minor exeeptions. [l all ot the current holders of the security clect to hold
their positions without bidding a particular rate, then the clearing rate is the all-hold rate,
a below-market rate sct by a lformula described in the disclosure documents.

Broker-Dealers’ Role in Auctions

31. The issucr of cach security sclects one or more hroker-dealers to
underwrite the offering and/or manage the auction process.  [nvestors can only submit
orders through the selected broker-dealers. During the Class Period. Citigroup was one
of the largest broker-dealers in the ARS market.

32, Theissuer pays an annualized (ee to cach broker-dealer, such as Citigroup,
engaged to manage an auction. The [ee is typically 25 basis points (t.c.. .25% ol 1%} for
the par value of the sceurities that it manages.

[

33. The issuer also sclects an auction agent to collect the orders and determine

’ For example, suppose $100.000 of sceurities were for sale and the auction received four buy bids.
Bid A was tor $50.000 at 1.10%, Bid T3 way lor S530.000 at 1.15%, Bid C was for $30.000 at [.15%, and
Bid 17 was for $25.000 at 1.20%. Under these circumstances, the “clearing rate”™ would be 1.15%, meaning
all ot the securities it the auction would pay interest ar a rate of 1L15% until the next auction. Bid A would
be allocated S30,000, Bids 13 and O would receive pro-rata allocations (825,000 cach). and Bid D would
receive no allocation.

This is how a true Duteh avction 1y supposed o operate, and this s how (he auction process is
deseribed to investors in offering documents.  Towever, as described below, the actual auction process
cmployed by Citigroup bore little resemblance (o a true Dutch auction.



the clearing rate for the auction.  Investors must submit orders [or an auction to the
broker-dealer by a specilied ime.  Many broker-dealers have an internal deadline by

which investors must submit their orders to them.

T

4. This internal deadline allows the broker-dealer sufficient time to process
and submit the orders to the auction agent.  Other broker-dealers allow investors to
submit orders up until the submission deadhine. 1e.. the deadline for broker-dealers to
submit orders 1o the auction agent.  The broker-dealers must submit the orders to the
auction agent before the submission deadline, and usually must identify cach separate
order.

Auction Agents’ Role in Auctions

35. After receiving the orders from the broker-dealers, the auction agent
calculates the clearing rate that will apply until the next auction. In practice. however, il
there is only one broker-dealer, as in the case of many of the auctions managed by
Citigroup, the broker-dealer can discern the clearing rate before submitting the orders to
the auction agent.

30. The auction agent atlocates the securities to the broker-dealers based on
the orders they submitted. The auction procedures generally state that orders are filled tn
the following order: hold orders, hold-at-ratc and buy bids with a ratc below the clearing
rate, hold-at-rate orders with a rate at the ¢learing rate. and buy bids with a rate at the
clearing rate.

37. When there are moere bids for securities at the clearing rate than sceuritics
remaining lor sale, the securities are allocated on a pro rata basis first to the hold-at-rate
bidders and then to the buy bidders. Generally, the auction procedures require broker-
dealers to tollow the same hicrarchy in allocating the securities to their customers.

SEC Finds Bid-Rigging of ARS Auctions by Broker-Dealers

38. From 1984 10 2006, the ARS market had grown to more than $200 billion

and the fees collected by the 20 or so broker-dealers running this market exceeded $600
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mitlion per year.

39, In order 1o keep (his gravy traim operating, it was ol utmost importance for
broker-dealers to portray the ARS market as extremely liquid because the primary target
market for these securitics were nvestors with short-term investment goals or money-
market needs.

40. Any hint that the auction market for ARS was anything but robustly liquid
would send investors running for the exits, Thus. a lailed auction, or even a rumor of one.
was a marketing stigma that Citigroup  one of the largest broker-dealers in this market --
could not tolerate.

41. However. the ARS auctions were not nearly {iquid cnough 1o supportt the
billions of dellars in ARS that Citigroup and other broker-dealers were pumping out to
investors on a daily basis.

42. In order to conceal the inherent illiquidity of the auction market  which
would be a death-knell to the industry - Citigroup and certain other broker-dealers agreed
10 engage in various practices they lermed “stabilization.™  [n reality. however. the
conduct was nothing short ol market-manipulation designed to mask an auction market
that lacked sufficient demand.

43. In an Administrative Proceeding dated May 31, 2006, the SEC found that
Citigroup and other broker-dealers engaged in various illegal practices in order to make it
appear that the auctions were successlul and legitimate when, in fact. they were not.

44, Broker-dealers were found to routinely take over customers” bid orders by
filling in the blanks on open or market orders alter viewing other bidders™ orders, This
practice favored certain customers over others and allowed the broker-dealers 1o easily
manipulate the auction price.

45. Broker-dealers bid for their own accounts without disclosing this to clients
or asked their customers to change orders 10 order (o:

i prevent failed auctions, thereby supporting the “no lailed auetion™
marketing claim: and

9



ii. set artificial “market” rates, al levels chosen by broker-dealers
themselves.

46. The SEC found rearranging bids through "netting” of in-house buy-and-
sell orders ahead ol actual avctions in order to change the priority of bids, Belore
submitting bids 1o the auction agent, broker-dealers changed or “prioritized™ their
customers’ bids to Increase the likelihood that the bids would be filled. As a result of this
prioritization and a similar practice known as “cross-trading,” certain bids were moved
up in the disclosed hicrarchy by which different types of bids would be illed.” Tn certain
instances, these practices resulled in certain investors” bids displacing other investors”
bids when the auction was oversubscribed. allected the clearing rate, and did not conform
Lo disclosed procedures.

47. The SEC also found rampant submission or revision of bids alter
deadlines. As described above. most auctions had an internal deadline that broker-dealers
sel for investors to submit bids to the broker-dealers and a formal submission deadline set
by the oflering documents [or broker-dealers to submit bids to the auction agent. Broker-
deualers allowed certain investors to submit or revise bids after these deadlines.  In
addition. the broker-dealers themscelves submitted or revised bids alier these deadlings,
‘These practices advantaged investors or the broker-dealers who bid after a deadline by
displacing other investors™ bids. affected the clearing rate. and did not conform to
disclosed procedures.

48. The SEC also [ound that broker-dealers collaborated with  certain

customers by asking them to bid at auctions and then compensating them with higher-

i

(e example of prioritization occurred when certain broker-dealers received o sell order from one
customer and a buy order from another custemer in the same auction. Rather than submitting each order to
the auction ggent as required by the disclosure documents, broker-dealers instead netted those orders belore
submitting them 1o the auction agenl.  Cross-trading oceurred when certain broker-dealers actually
iransicrred securities (rom a customer that wanted to sell to a customer that wanted 1o buy, rather than
submitting the bids in the auction. Pursuant to both practices, these customers that wanted to buy sceuritics
were considered to be existing holders so that their orders had a higher priority in the auction than other
new customers’ bids for securitics. None of these procedures were consistent with the description of the
auction process found in the various prospeciuses for the ARS marketed by Citigroup.
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than-clearing rates in the sccondary market. For example, pursvant to an express or tacit
understanding reached prior to or during an auction: (1) certain broker-dealers provided a
higher return by having the investor submit its bid at a lower rate than the investor
actually wanted to reccive. allowing the auction to clear at the lower rate, buying the
seeurities from the investor after the auction. and then selling the sccurities back to the
investor at below par value: (2) certain broker-dealers simply displaced an investor’s bid
and then compensated the investor by selling securities to the investor at below par value
in the secondary marke(; and (3) certain broker-dealers provided a higher return by
delaying the scttlement date for certain investors.

449, Finally. the SEC found that certain broker-dcalers provided ditferent
“price talks™ to different customers. placing certain customers at an advantage over
others.

50. tThe SEC's findings demonstrated that the ARS auctions were often
auctions in name only and allowed broker-dealers and/or their preferred customers to
carn the best interest rates and manipulate the ARS market.

51 The 15 broker-dealers were ined $13 million, censured by the SEC and
ordered to “cease and desisC [rom these practices in the (uture.

52, A year later. in another SEC Administrative Proceeding dated May 7,
2007, Citigroup agreed to pay an additional $200,000.00 in fines for the misdeeds ol
LMWW in the ARS market prior to its acquisition by Citigroup in December 2005,

33. The fines and SEC investigations not withstanding, the broker-dealers
were not prepared abandon their abusive practices and to allow a flatled. or even a
potentially failed, auction.

34, Throughout the Class Period, the broker-dealers continued to engage in
various practices (o artificially bolster the auction markets without fully disclosing their

conducet 1o the investing public.

l Price talk is a broker-dealer’s estimate of the likely range within which an auction will clear.
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The Auction Market Starts to Unravel

55, In 2007, a credit crisis of unprecedented proportion swept across the
United Stated that continues to roil the financial markets 1o this day.

56. By mid 2007, banks stopped [inancing private equity deals, the prices of
ULS.! residential real estate went into a steep decline. and the mortgage market for sub-
prim¢ borrowers essentially shut down.  The collapse of the credit markets forced
financial institutions such as Citigroup to report more than $50 billion in losses and write-
downs and began infecting the ARS market.  Citigroup was especially hard it on its
balance sheet and was forced to seek additional capital infusions on an expedited basis.

57. Citigroup struggled 1o maintain the illusion of a healthy and hiquid avction
markel despite the lact that demand off ARS by its corporate and institutional clicnts
essentially dried up. This shill was driven. in large part, by a March 2007 decision by the
'inancial Accounting Standards Board (“"FASB™) requiring ARS 1o be listed on balance
sheets as “short-term investments™ rather than under the heading of “cash equivalents.™

58. Corporations responded to this by moving out ot ARS so that their balance
sheet cash positions would not be reduced as a result of the FASB decision. This meant
that many corporations no longer wanted to buy ARS. As corporate demand tor ARS
waned, Citigroup had to maintain morc ARS inventory on its books — something it could
not tfinancially handle.

39. Rather than disclose the weakening demand for ARS in the auctions
during the Class Period, Citigroup continued to intensely market ARS to its customers as
a liquid cash alternative, and. indeed, represented such securities as “Money market and
auction mstruments” in monthly account statements sent to customers.

00. By the middle of 2007, legitimate demand lor ARS virtually disappeared.
However, broker-dealers continued to manipulate the ARS auctions and to disseminate
information that did not reflect the actual supply-and-demand dynamics of the ARS

market in order to maintain an aura of fegitimacy and liquidity [or these ARS.



61. Cittgroup engaged in this conduct, among other reasons. in order to unload
the millions of dollars in ARS 1t had in inmventory.  The only way Citigroup could
accomplish this was by deceiving investors into believing that the ARS market was
liquid, when in reality. it was not.

02. By Auvgust 16, 2007, scveral monthly auctions luiled amid the turmoil in
the credit markets,  ITnvestors did not show (o bid in auctions during August for about 60
auctions worth $6 billion ol ARS. Alse. some credit rating agencies were advising that
“they would not be surprised to see Turther failed auctions in the days or weeks ahead.”

03. Therealier, auctions began lailing with some regularity. and those that did
succeed, would have failed but lor the broker-dealers™ intervention. The broker-dealers,
continued 1o intervene in order to prop-up the auction market by bidding with knowledge
ol vther bids, submitting bids alter the internal bidding deadline imposed on investors,
and by directly or indirectly influencing or setting the clearing rates with considerable
frequency.

64, Although Citigroup was aware that there was no legitimate auction
demand for ARS. it still marketed and sold ARS as a liquid cash alternative.

065. After unloading as many ARS [rom its balance sheet unto unsuspecting
investors. on or about February 13, 2008, Citigroup stopped supporting the auctions and
simply walked away [rom the ARS market.

00. On February 13, 2008, 87% of the auctions lor ARS [ailed when Citigroup
and other broker-dealers pulled the plug on the ARS market.  As a result. thousands of
investors holding millions ol dollars o ARS purchased Irom Citigroup arce now lett with
iliquid ARS. ARS holders have no prospect ot ever sclling their securities by means of
an auction market that has been exposed as artificial and manipulated by the broker-
dealers running the market.  Class members’ only prospect 1s to try to sell their illiquid

ARS at a steep discount to par value.



07. Accordingly, Plaintlf sceks injunctive reliel” 1o compel Citigroup (o
reseind billions of dollars in ARS transactions sold to customers during the Class Period
and to recover compensatory and  punitive damages on behalf of the Class who have
suflered and continue Lo sutfer damages as a result of Citigroup™s deceptive conduet.

ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS

063. The Delendants have acted with scienter in that they knew that the
statements issued or disseminated about ARS were materially false and misleading: knew
that such statements or documents would be issued or disseminated to the investing
public: and knowingly and substantially participated 1 or acquicsced to the issuance or
dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations ot the federal
seeurities laws. As set lorth herein in detail. Defendants, by virtue of their receipt of
information reflecting the true facts regardimg the ARS market. their control over andfor
their associations with the ARS market which made them privy o confidential
proprietary information concerning the ARS markel. participated in the fraudulent
scheme alleged herein.

69. Detendants knew andfor recklessly disregarded the falsity and misleading
nature of the information that they caused (o be disseminated to the investing public. The
ongoing fraudulent scheme described could not have been perpetrated over a substantial
period of time, as described herein, without the knowledge and complicity of the
personnel at the highest levels of Citigroup. Delendants were motivated to malterially
misrepresent the true nature of the ARS auction market 1n order to: (1) attract new
investors who would only invest in ARS if they belicved a highly liquid auction market
existed:; (1) unload ARS in their inventory to unsuspecting investors who believed they
were purchasing a liguid investment; and (i1} continue collecting substantial fees of
approximately 25 basis points per year lor managing the ARS auctions on behalt” of

155UCrs,



THE SAFE 11ARBOR PROVISION IS INAPPLICABLE

70, The statutory sate harbor under the Private Sceurities Litigation Relorm
Act of 1995, which applics to forward-looking statements under certain circumstances,
docs not apply to any of the allegedly lalse statements pleaded in this complaint. The
statements alleged to be false and misieading herein all relate to then-existing facts and
conditions. In addition, to the extent certain of the statements alleged to be lalse may be
characterized as forward-looking, they were not adequately identilicd as “forward-
looking statements™ when made and there were no meaninglul cautionary statements
identilying important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from
thosc in the purportedly forward-looking statements.

71. Allernatively, o the extent that the statutory safe harbor is intended to
apply to any forward-looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable lor those
false lTorward-looking stalements because, at the time each ol those forward-looking
statements was made, the particular speaker had actual knowledge that the particular
forward-looking statement was materially lalse or misleading, and/or the forward-looking
statement was authorized and/or approved by an exccutive ollicer of Detendants who
knew that those statements were false. misteading. or omitled necessary information
when they were made.

LOSS CAUSATION / ECONOMIC LOSS

72. During the Class Period. as detailed herein, the Delendants engaged i a
scheme 0 deceive the markel and a course ol conduct that artificially inflated the value
and liquidity of ARS and operated as a frand or deceit on acquirers of ARS purchased
from Citigroup.

73. As detailed above, when the true nature of the ARS auction market was
revealed, the ARS held by members of the Class became illiquid and as a result declined
in valuce. This decline in the liquidity and value of ARS was a direct result of the nature

and extent of Defendants’™ [raud tinally being revealed to investors and the market. The

._.
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tming of the illiquidity in ARS and magnitude ol the price decline negates any inference
that the loss suftered by PlamtilT and other members of the Class was cause by changed
market conditions. macrocconomic or industry factors or other facts unrelated to the
Defendants’ fraudulent conduct. The cconomic loss, 1e. damages. suflfered by the
Plaintif and other Class members was a direet result of Defendants™ fraudulent scheme (o
artificially inllate the ARS price by manipulating the auction markets and the subsequent
significant decline in the liquidity and value of ARS sold by Defendants’ alter their prior
misrepresentations and other fraudulent conduct was revealed.

74, At all umes relevont the Delendants” materially false and misleading
statements or omissions alleged herein divectly or proximately caused the damages
sutfered by the Plaintilt and other Class members. "These statements were materially
false and misleading because they lailed to disclose a true and accurate picture of the
ARS auction market as alleged herein. Throughout the Class Period. Delendants publicly
issucd materially false and misleading statements and made omissions ol material {acts,
causing the market price ol ARS (o be artificially intlated.  PlaintillT and other Class
members purchased ARS at these artificially inflated prices and were damaged thereby.

COUNT I
Violations of §10(h) of the Lxchange Act and SEC Rule 10h-5
{Against All Defendants)

75. Plamu(l repeats and realleges cach and every allegation contained in the
[oregoing paragraphs as il lully set forth herein.

70. This Count s alleged against all ol the Detfendants and is based upon
Section 10(b) of the 1934 Act. 15 U.S.C.§ 78)(b), and SEC Rule 10h-5 promulgated
thereunder.

77. Duning the Class Pernod. Delendaats directly engaged in a common plan,
scheme, and unlawful course of conduct. pursuant to which they knowingly or recklessly
engaged in acts. transactions, practices. and course ot business which operated as [raud

and deceit upon Plaintiff and the other members of the Class. and latled to disclose



material information in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made. not misleading to Plaintilf and the other members of the
Class. The purpose and clfect ol said scheme. plan. and unlawful course of conduct was,
among other things, to induce Plaintiff and the other members of the Class to purchase
ARS during the Class Period at artificially inflated prices and under false pretenses that
the market for ARS was liquid and robust.

78. As a result of the latlure to disclose material (acts, the information
Delendants disseminated to the investing public was materially [alse and misleading as
set forth above, and the market price and liguidity of ARS was artificially inflated during
the Class Period.

79. In ignorance of the duty Lo disclose the [alse and misleading nature of the
statements described above and the deceptive and manipulative devices and contrivances
employed by the Defendants, Plaintitf and other members ol the Class relied. to their
detriment, on the integrity of the market price and liquidity ol the auction market when
purchasing ARS from Delendants.  1lad Plaintift and the other members ol the Class
Known the truth. they would not have purchased said sccuritics or would not have
purchased them at the inflated prices that were paid.

80, Plaintilf and the other members of the Class have suflered substantial
damages as a result of the wrongs herein alleged in an amount to be proved at trial.

81. By reason of the loregoing. Defendants direetly vielated Section 10{b) of
the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder i that they: (a)
cmployed devices, schemes. and artifices (o delraud: (b} lailed to disclose material
information; or (¢) engaged in acts. practices, and a course of business which operated as
a lraud and deceit upon Plaintiff and the other members of the Class in connection with

their purchases o ARS during the Class Period.



COUNT I
Violation of Seetion 20(a) of the Exchange Act
{Against Defendant Citigroup, Inc.)

82. Plainufl repeats and realleges cach and every alicgation contained 1n the
foregoing paragraphs as il fully set forth herein.

83. Defendant Citigroup. Inc. acted as a control person ol Delendant Global
within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein.

84 By virtue of its 100% ownership of Global, Citigroup. Inc. had the power
to influence and control and did influence and control. directly or indirectly, the decision-
making by Global and its various divisions. mcluding Smith Barney. including the
content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintifl contends are lalse and
misleading, Citigroup. Inc. was provided with or had uniimited access to copics of the
reports, press releases. public filings and other statements alleged by Plaintitt to be
misleading prior to and/or shortly atter these statements were issued and had the ability to
prevent the issuance ol the statements or cause the statements 1o be corrected.

85, As set forth above, Global has violated Scetion 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by
ity acts and omissions as alleged in this complaint. By virtue ol its position as a
controlling person. Citigroup. Inc. is liable pursuant to Scction 20(a) of the Exchange

Act.

WHEREFORE. PlaintilT. on its own behalf and on behalf of the Class, prays for
Judpment as follows:

(a) Determining that this action o be a proper class action and certifying,
Plaintilt as class representative under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure:

b) Awarding compensatory damages 10 favor of Plantitt and the other
members ol the Class against the Detendants tor the damages sustained as a resuit of the

wrongdoings of Defendants, together with interest thereon:



(c) Awarding Plainttft the Tees and expenses incurred in this action, ineluding

reasomable allowance of fees for PlaintilTs altorneys and experts;

(d) CGiranting extraordinary cquitable and/or mjunctive reliel as permitted by

law, equity and tederal and state statutory provisions sued on hereunder; and

(e) Granting such other and forther reliel as the Court may deem just and

proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintilf hereby demands a trial by jury.

PDATED: March 26, 2008

N
By: (%{/

LEVI & KORSINSKY, LLP .

p

- U
Eduard Korsindky (FK §989)
Joseph L. Levi (J1. 0848)
Juan B Monteverde (JM 8169)
39 Broadway. Suite 1601

New York, NY 10006
Telephone: 212/363-7500
lax: 212/363-7171

Counsel for Plaintiff



